# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-2-2010

# Fazzio v. Mason Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36068

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Nature Of The Case

This case is about the appropriate remedy to be applied in the case of a breach by the purchaser of a contract to purchase real estate. Rather than award the standard measure of damages recognized by this Court – the difference between the contract price and the value of the real estate at the time of breach – the District Court ordered specific performance of the contract. The District Court's order of specific performance is erroneous in that it ignored two fundamental rules of equity: (1) that a court should not order an equitable remedy, including specific performance, that is not feasible; and (2) that equity will not intervene where the aggrieved party has a plain, speedy, adequate, and complete remedy at law.

# B. Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

### 1. Background Of Mr. Mason

Mr. Mason has been developing and building single-family and multi-family communities in Idaho for seventeen years. Since 1990, he has been involved in the development of approximately 30 single-family subdivisions and 8 multi-family projects. Each of those subdivisions/projects involved some element of bank or investor financing. *See* R., Exh. 1 (sealed)<sup>1</sup> (Affidavit of Edward J. Mason, ¶ 3).

# 2. The Agreements To Purchase The Subject Properties, And Mr. Mason's Breach Of Those Agreements

I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Many of the facts relevant to this case are taken from Mr. Mason's financial records, which are confidential in nature and are subject to a Protective Order entered by the District Court. The affidavits setting forth confidential financial information were filed under seal with the District Court and have been lodged with this Court as part of a sealed record.

On April 12, 2006, Mr. Mason entered into two separate Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreements. See R., Exh. 2 (Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr., ¶¶ 2-3). The first Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement provided that Mr. Mason would purchase a residence and a parcel of real property on which the residence is located from Respondents Dr. and Mrs. Fazzio for the price of \$1,530,000. *Id.* The second Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement provided that Mr. Mason would purchase two parcels of real property consisting of farmland from Respondent Idaho Livestock Company, LLC, for the price of \$2,000,000. *Id.* at ¶ 4. Each Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement provided for a closing date of February 26, 2007. *Id.* Mr. Mason was not able to close on the purchase of the properties on February 26, 2007. *Id.* at ¶ 6. Thus, Mr. Mason was in breach of both Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreements as of that date.

The parties subsequently entered into two separate Agreements to Resolve Dispute Arising Out of Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement Dated April 12, 2006 (the "Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties").<sup>2</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 9, Exhs. A-B. The Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties provided that they superseded the original Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreements. *Id.* The terms of the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties required Mr. Mason to close on the purchase of the Subject Properties by December 21, 2007 if Mason obtained plat approval by that date from the city of Kuna. *Id.* If plat approval was not obtained by December 21, 2007, then Mr. Mason was required to close by March 21, 2008. *Id.* The city of Kuna approved the preliminary plat prior to December 21, 2007, but Mr. Mason was not able

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The properties that are the subject of the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties are the same properties Mr. Mason had previously agreed to purchase and will hereinafter be referred to as the "Subject Properties."

to close on the purchase of the properties. *Id.* at ¶ 11. Thus, Mr. Mason was in breach of the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties as of December 21, 2007.

#### 3. Mr. Mason's Inability To Close On The Purchase Of The Subject Properties

At all times during the negotiations for the purchase of the Subject Properties, Mr. Mason believed that he would be able to close on the purchase of the Subject Properties. The real estate market in Idaho was strong and bank and/or investor financing for real estate developments was readily available. Subsequent to the negotiations to purchase the Subject Properties, however, there has been a significant downturn in the Idaho real estate market, property values have fallen, and the availability of financing for real estate developments has decreased substantially. *See* R., Exh. 1 (sealed) (Affidavit of Edward J. Mason, ¶¶ 5-6).

At all times subsequent to the negotiations to purchase the Subject Properties, Mr. Mason has made diligent efforts to close on the purchase of the Subject Property. However, he simply has been unable to do so because he cannot obtain the necessary financing. Attempts have been made to obtain financing from many different sources. *See id.* at 7-8.

The original plan was to obtain financing through First Horizon Construction Lending ("First Horizon"). First Horizon initiated an appraisal on the Subject Property, which indicated an "infeasibility issue with the project, in that the costs to acquire/develop exceed values generated." Furthermore, with the downturn in the Idaho real estate market, the Boise office of First Horizon closed in December 2007, laying off all employees, including its loan manager. Before going out of business in December 2007, after extensive financial documentation and meetings, First Horizon approved a financing package that required a high equity position. First Horizon agreed to finance just over \$1,800,000 of the purchase price. When Mr. Mason was

- 3 -

unable to obtain an equity partner for the remainder of the purchase price, he informed Dr. Fazzio of the situation and requested that he agree to carry a portion of the financing through an owner-financing arrangement. Dr. Fazzio refused. *See id.* at 9.

In January 2008, First Horizon announced that it was closing its national construction lending division and all pending loan financing was terminated. Thus, financing through First Horizon is no longer a viable option. *See id.* at 10-11.

Mr. Mason also attempted to obtain financing through Eagle Equity Group, which is an investor group that has helped finance some of Mr. Mason's other developments. The Eagle Equity Group declined to finance the purchase of the Subject Property. *See id.* at 12.

Mr. Mason attempted to obtain financing through the RBC Builder Financial Group, which helped finance the acquisition and development of the Galiano Subdivision, a subdivision Mr. Mason is developing adjacent to the Subject Property. RBC informed Mr. Mason that no additional financing of a large subdivision would be approved due to the excess lot inventory and poor market conditions in the area. RBC announced in March 2008 that it was closing its western offices and that it would only have ongoing U.S. operations in the Southeast and Texas. Thus, financing in Idaho through the RBC is no longer available. *See id.* at 13.

Mr. Mason attempted to obtain financing through Fred Berman, who has invested in many of his developments. Mr. Berman declined to invest in the project. *See id.* at 14.

Mr. Mason attempted to obtain financing through Magnet Bank, which is currently financing one of his developments, the Ambleside subdivision. The Magnet Bank declined to help finance the purchase of the Subject Properties due to the depressed market conditions and the excess lot inventory and current financing of the Ambleside subdivision. In November 2007,

-4-

the Eagle Magnet Bank was shut down overnight with employees arriving to locked doors. *See id.* at 15.

In February 2008, Mr. Mason attended a National Association of Homebuilders convention. Mr. Mason presented information regarding the financing of the Subject Properties to various banking and investor professionals attending the conference. He encountered a general lack of financing available for development projects due to the depressed real estate and financial markets. The only individual who expressed interest in the project was Meg Kelley, who is a Commercial & Residential Loan Officer with the Patriot National Bank in Stamford, Connecticut, and who also has ties to several independent investors and hedge funds. *See id.* at 16.

Mr. Mason provided additional information and financial documentation to Meg Kelley, but the Patriot National Bank was not interested in providing financing. However, Meg Kelley located an investor from New York that was interested in a conference call to discuss the project. Ted Mason Signature Homes, Inc. staff, Meg Kelley and the investor had a conference call to discuss feasibility. The investor reviewed the financial ratio requirements of investment as well as terms. Mr. Mason is not able to satisfy these high equity-to-debt ratios or liquidity requirements, so the investor was not interested in investing in any project at this time with Mr. Mason. In further conversations with Meg Kelly, she indicated that Mr. Mason and his companies would need to have a stronger balance sheet before national investors would be interested in reviewing specific projects. *See id.* at 17.

- 5 -

Mr. Mason has also spoken with three other private lenders: Hopkins Financial Services; Excelsior Management; and Seattle Funding Group, Ltd. Each of these private lenders would require an equity investor, which Mr. Mason has not been able to obtain. *See id.* at 18.

Mr. Mason continues to look for a way to finance the purchase of the Subject Property. Indeed, he would still like to close on the purchase of the Subject Property. However, given his current financial situation, the depressed real estate market and the increasingly tightened credit market, there is no way he can close on the purchase of the Subject Property. *See id.* at 4, 19.

Moreover, closing on the properties in question would not be made possible by liquidating assets. The vast majority of Mr. Mason's assets are in the form of real property, which serves as the collateral on bank loans. Not only would it be extremely difficult to sell that property under the current real estate market conditions, but in most cases Mr. Mason already owes the banks more than the appraised value of the property. Thus, liquidating those assets would not provide any cash with which to close on the properties. *See* R., Exh. 3 (sealed) (Supplemental Affidavit of Edward J. Mason, ¶¶ 3-11).

In order to close on the Idaho Livestock Company, LLC property, Mr. Mason would need to have cash available in the amount of \$2,000,000.00 plus interest at the rate of 12% per annum. In order to close on the Fazzio property, Mr. Mason would need to have cash available in the amount of \$1,530,000.00 plus interest at the rate of 12% per annum. Thus, the total amount of cash that would be required to close on the Subject Properties is well over \$3.5 Million. Mr. Mason does not have in his possession, nor does he have access to, the over \$3.5 Million that would be required to close on the purchase of the Subject Properties. *See* R., Exh. 1 (sealed) (Affidavit of Edward J. Mason, ¶ 22).

- 6 -

If this Court were to affirm the District Court's Order of specific performance ordering Mr. Mason to close on the Subject Property, he simply will not be able to comply with that order.

## 4. **Procedural Posture**

Respondents filed the Complaint on January 22, 2008. R., p. 6-68. The Complaint alleged that Mr. Mason breached his contractual obligations under the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties. Respondents subsequently filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asking the Court to either (1) confirm the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties as arbitration awards; or (2) enter a judgment for specific performance. Specifically, Respondents requested a "Judgment for specific performance . . . . [r]equiring Mason to immediately close on the purchase of the Subject Properties." R., Exh. 1, p. 10.

Mr. Mason opposed the motion for summary judgment on grounds that specific performance should not be ordered because it would be impossible for Mr. Mason to close on the purchase of the subject properties. R., Exh. 2 (sealed). Mr. Mason relied on this Court's repeated recognition of the equitable rules that a court of equity should not order a remedy, including specific performance, that is not feasible and that an equitable remedy should not be ordered where there exists and adequate remedy at law. Mr. Mason did not contest the fact that he breached the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties, nor did Mr. Mason assert the substantive impossibility of performance defense. Despite the fact that the substantive impossibility of performance defense was never asserted by Mr. Mason, the District Court, the Honorable Kathryn A. Sticklen, asked the parties to provide supplemental briefing on the substantive impossibility of performance defense. R., Exhs. 4-5. Mr. Mason responded by

- 7 -

explaining that the substantive impossibility of performance defense is inapplicable to this case and is a different defense than that being asserted by Mr. Mason. R., Exh. 4.

In a December 30, 2008 Order, Judge Sticklen granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, ordering that "[s]pecific performance on the contract is to be completed within thirty days of the date of this order; if not so accomplished, a judgment for the purchase price may be entered, upon satisfaction of which the properties must be conveyed to Mason." R., pp. 78-83. As Mr. Mason had previously made clear, he was unable to comply with the order of specific performance because he did not have the means to close on the Subject Properties.

Mr. Mason appealed from the Order, but that appeal was dismissed as premature because a final judgment had not yet been issued. Mr. Mason then sought reconsideration of the Order, which was denied by the Honorable Richard D. Greenwood, who had since replaced Judge Sticklen. Judge Greenwood entered a final Judgment (the "Judgment") in favor of Respondents Dr. and Mrs. Fazzio in the principal amount of \$1,530,000, plus interest in the amount of \$412,471.08. *See* Order to Augment the Record, dated November 17, 2009, Exh. 1. Judge Greenwood also entered Judgment in favor of Respondent Idaho Livestock Company, LLC, in the amount of \$2,000,000, plus interest in the amount of \$539,177.66. *Id.* The Judgment further provides that Respondents have a valid, subsisting vendor's lien against the Subject Properties and that said vendor's liens may be enforced through sale of the Subject Properties in the same manner and subject to the same restrictions as the execution sale of property subject to a decree of foreclosure as set forth in Chapter 1 of Title 6, Idaho Code. *Id.* Judge Greenwood also awarded attorneys' fees and costs in favor of respondents in the sum of \$36,999.50. *See* Order Granting Motion to Augment Record, dated October 6, 2009.

- 8 -

## П.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

(1) Whether the District Court erred in ordering specific performance of the Agreements to Purchase the Subject Properties, where the Respondent had an adequate remedy at law and where the order of specific performance was not feasible.

(2) Whether, upon reversal of the order granting specific performance, this Court should also reverse the award of attorney fees on grounds that Respondent is not the prevailing party.<sup>3</sup>

## III.

#### ARGUMENT

### A. Standard Of Review

The Court reviews an order of specific performance for an abuse of discretion. *Mallory* v. *Watt*, 100 Idaho 119, 123, 594 P.2d 629, 633 (1979). When determining whether a district court abused its discretion, the Court considers three factors: "(1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, (2) whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal principles, and (3) whether it reached its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Mason had initially indicated that he would be appealing the District Court's order of attorney fees with regard to the amount of the attorneys' fees award. After further review of the issue, Mr. Mason has elected not to pursue an appeal of the reasonableness of the amount of the attorney fees award and to focus this appeal only on the order of specific performance. Upon reversal of the order of specific performance, however, Respondent will not be the prevailing party, and the award of attorney fees should also be reversed as premature.

decision through an exercise of reason." *Edmunds v. Kraner*, 142 Idaho 867, 873, 136 P.3d 338, 344 (2006).

## **B.** The District Court Erred In Ordering Specific Performance

## 1. Specific Performance Is Not Appropriate Because It Would Not Be Possible For Mr. Mason To Comply With The Order Of Specific Performance

"There is no legal right to specific performance." *Kessler v. Tortoise Development, Inc.* 134 Idaho 264, 270, 1 P.3d 292, 298 (2000). Instead, specific performance "is an extraordinary remedy that can provide relief when legal remedies are inadequate." *Id.* "[S]pecific performance is an equitable remedy and should not be granted when it would be unjust, oppressive, or unconscionable." *Id.* The decision to grant specific performance is a matter within the District Court's discretion. *Id.* "When making its decision the court must balance the equities between the parties to determine whether specific performance is appropriate." *Id.* 

In ordering specific performance, the District Court did not recognize, much less follow, the well-established rule that a court should not order an equitable remedy, including specific performance, which is not feasible. *See, e.g., Anderson v. Whipple*, 71 Idaho 112, 125, 227 P.2d 351, 359 (1951), overruled on other grounds by *David Steed and Associates, Inc. v. Young*, 115 Idaho 247, 766 P.2d 717 (1988) ("Equity will not enter a decree for specific performance the enforcement of which is not practicable or feasible."); *Paloukos v. Intermountain Chevrolet Co.*, 99 Idaho 740, 745-46, 588 P.2d 939, 944-45 (1978) (dismissing claim for specific performance because "[i]t is well established that the courts will not order the impossible"); *Childs v. Reed*, 34 Idaho 450, 202 P. 685, 686 (1921) ("Where the contract is of such a nature that obedience to the decree cannot be obtained by the ordinary processes of the court, equity will decline to interfere.").

It is indisputable that Mr. Mason does not have the approximately \$3.5 Million that would be required to close on the Subject Properties as ordered by the Court. *See* R., Exhs. 1, 3 (sealed). Thus, the District Court erred in ordering specific performance.

# 2. The Equitable Rule That Equity Courts Should Not Order The Impossible Is Separate And Distinct From The Substantive Impossibility Of Performance Defense

The rule that equity should not order the impossible is an equitable rule, not a substantive defense. Rather than apply the equitable rule, the Court applied and rejected the substantive contract defense of impossibility of performance as if the two rules were one and the same. The District Court's analysis was erroneous in that the two rules are not one and the same. The equitable rule merely precludes an order of <u>equitable</u> relief and leaves the plaintiff with a remedy in law, i.e., damages. *See, e.g., Suchan v. Rutherford*, 90 Idaho 288, 410 P.2d 434 (1966) (reversing the district court's order of specific performance of a real estate contract, and remanding to the district court to calculate damages). In other words, the equitable rule cited by Mr. Mason goes not to the issue of liability, but to the issue of what remedy is appropriate. The substantive impossibility of performance doctrine is a complete defense to a contract and leaves the plaintiff with no remedy at all, either equitable or at law. *See Landis v. Hodgson*, 109 Idaho 252, 257, 706 P.2d 1363, 1368 (Ct. App. 1985) (explaining that the substantive doctrine of impossibility of performance results in the party asserting the defense being "relieved of his duty to perform") (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 264 (1981)).

- 11 -

"The doctrine of impossibility operates to excuse performance when the bargained-for performance is no longer in existence or is no longer capable of being performed due to the unforeseen, supervening act of a third party." *Haessly v. Safeco Title Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 121 Idaho 463, 465, 825 P.2d 1119, 1121 (1992). "A *sine qua non* for application of the doctrine is that the parties must have contracted, expressly or in necessary contemplation, with reference to continued existence of the specific thing as a condition essential to performance." *Id.*

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