# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-25-2010

# Fazzio v. Mason Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36068

STATEMENT OF THE CASE iv
A. NATURE OF THE CASE iv
B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE DISTRICT COURT iv
C. STATEMENT OF FACTS vi
ADDITIONAL ISSUES ON APPEAL ix
ARGUMENT
I. STANDARD OF REVIEW1
II. THE DISTRICT COURT ACTED CORRECTLY WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DECIDED THAT FAZZIO WAS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
III. FAZZIO AND MASON CONTRACTUALLY AGREED THAT THE REMEDY FOR BREACH OF THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS WAS SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE THEREBY MAKING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE A CONTRACTUALLY ENFORCEABLE LEGAL RIGHT
IV. FAZZIO IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS ON APPEAL14
CONCLUSION16
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

# TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

<u>Case</u> <u>Page</u>
Anderson v. Whipple, 71 Idaho 112, 227 P.2d 351 (1951)
<u>Anderson v. Whipple</u> , 71 Idaho 112, 125, 227 P.2d 351, 359 (1951), overruled on other grounds by <i>David Steed and Associates, Inc. v. Young</i> , 115 Idaho 247, 766 P.2d 717 (1988)
Barbour v. Hickey, 2 App. D.C. 207, 24 L.R.A. 7639
<u>Childs v. Reed</u> , 34 Idaho 450, 202 P. 685 (1921)
<u>Christy v. Pilkington</u> , 224 Ark. 407, 273 S.W.2d 533 (1954)5, 6
Eagle Water Company, Inc. v. Roundy Pole Fence Company, Inc., 134 Idaho 626, 7 P.3d 1103 (2000)1
<u>Fullerton v. Griswold</u> , 142 Idaho 820, 823, 136 P.3d 291, 294 (2006)2
Hancock v. Dusenberry, 110 Idaho 147, 152, 715 P.2d 360, 365 (Ct.App. 1986) (citing J. CALAMARI & J. PERILLO, CONTRACTS § 16-1 (2d ed. 1977))
Infanger v. City of Salmon, 137 Idaho 45, 44 P.3d 1100 (2002)1
<u>In re Jane Doe, I</u> , 145 Idaho 650, 651, 182 P.3d 707, 708 (2008) ( <i>citing Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co.,</i> 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000- (1991))
Johannsen v. Utterbeck, 146 Idaho 423, 196 P.3d 341 (2008)2, 3, 9, 12
Jorgensen v. Coppedye, 145 Idaho 524, 181 P.3d 450 (2008)13
<u>Kessler v. Tortoise Development, Inc.</u> , 134 Idaho 264, 270, 1 P.3d 292, 298 (2000)
Lovey v. Regence BlueShield of Idaho, 139 Idaho 37, 46, 72 P.3d 877, 886 (2003)13
Machold v. Farnan, 14 Idaho 258, 94 P. 1707
Paloukos v. Intermountain Chevrolet Company, 99 Idaho 740, 588 P.2d 930 (1978)
Perron v. Hale, 108 Idaho 578, 701 P.2d 198 (1985)

Post v. Idaho Farmway, Inc., 135 Idaho 475, 20 P.3d 11 (2001)1
P.O. Ventures, Inc. v. Loucks Family Irrevocable Trust, 144 Idaho 233, 159 P.3d 870 (2007)1
Quintana v. Anthony, 109 Idaho 977, 981, 712 P.2d 678, 682 (Ct.App. 1985)14
Scogings v. Andreason, 91 Idaho 176, 180, 418 P.2d 273, 277 (1966)4
Smith v. Idaho State University Federal Credit Union, 114 Idaho 680, 760 P.2d 19 (1988)14
State v. Chacon, 146 Idaho 520, 198 P.3d 749 (App. 2008)6, 7
Suchan (citing Bedal v. Johnson, 37 Idaho 359, 218 P. 641 (1923))17
<u>Tombari v. Griepp</u> , 55 Wash.2d 771, 350 P.2d 452, 454-455 (1960) (string cite of treatises and cases)

# CODES / RULES / STATUTES

Idaho Code § 12-120(3)15	j
Idaho Appellate Rule 4115	5

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A.

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a breach of real estate purchase and sale agreements by Defendant/Appellant, Edward J. Mason, hereinafter "Mason," and subsequent lawsuit filed by Plaintiffs/Respondents, Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. and Cindy Ann Fazzio, husband and wife, and Idaho Livestock Company, LLC, hereinafter collectively, "Fazzio," to enforce those agreements. Fazzio was awarded a Judgment against Mason on May 28, 2009 for specific performance. (A Corrected Judgment was filed on October 5, 2009 as a result of an erroneous legal description (Motion to Augment Record filed October 26, 2009, Exhibit "A")).

Mason has appealed the entry of Judgment granting Fazzio specific performance and the Supplemental Judgment for Attorney's Fees and Costs filed September 17, 2009 (Motion to Augment Record filed October 1, 2009, Exhibit "A.").

#### B.

#### COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE DISTRICT COURT

On January 22, 2008, Fazzio filed an Application for Entry of Arbitration Award, Or In the Alternative, Complaint for Breach of Contract. (R. pp. 6 – 68). On February 12, 2008, Mason filed his Answer. (R. pp. 69 – 75). On August 4, 2008, Fazzio filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 76 – 77). On October 21, 2008, the District Court heard oral argument on Fazzio's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 5). On December 30, 2008, the District Court filed its Memorandum Decision and Order granting Fazzio's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 78 – 85).

iv

On January 20, 2009, Mason filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 85 – 88). On March 23, 2009, the Idaho Supreme Court filed an Order Conditionally Dismissing Appeal – Docket No. 36068-2009, conditionally dismissing Mason's appeal unless a separate judgment was filed in District Court or a permissive appeal was granted by the District Court.

On March 27, 2009, Mason filed a Request for Certification for Interlocutory Appeal. On April 3, 2009, Fazzio filed a Motion for Entry of Judgment. (Motion to Augment Record filed March 2, 2010, Exhibit "A"). On April 7, 2009, Mason filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Memorandum in Support. (Motion to Augment Record filed March 2, 2010, Exhibit "E"). On April 15, 2009, the District Court held a hearing on Mason's Motion for Reconsideration and Request for Certification for Interlocutory Appeal; and on Fazzio's Motion for Entry of Judgment. The Court denied Mason's Request for Certification and Motion for Reconsideration, but requested additional briefing as to appropriate safeguards to prevent Fazzio from having a judgment for specific performance award Fazzio both the real property and a monetary judgment. (Motion to Augment filed March 2, 2010, Exhibit "J", p. 2).

On May 28, 2009, the District Court filed its Memorandum Re: Motion to Reconsider and Entry of Judgment and Judgment. (Motion to Augment filed March 2, 2010, Exhibits "J" and "K"). On October 13, 2009, Mason filed his Amended Notice of Appeal.

On June 4, 2009, Fazzio filed an Amended Memorandum of Costs and Amended Affidavit of Attorney Fees Pursuant to Rule 54(e)(5) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. (Motion to Augment filed October 26, 2009, Exhibits "E" and "F"). On

٧

September 17, 2009, the District Court filed a Supplemental Judgment for Attorney's Fees and Costs. (Motion to Augment Record filed October 1, 2009, Exhibit "A.").

# C.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 12, 2006, Mason entered into a Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement to purchase from Plaintiffs/Respondents, Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. and Cindy Ann Fazzio, a certain parcel of real property consisting of approximately 3.08 acres with a residence thereon for the purchase price of \$1,530,000.00. (R. p. 00007; pp. 00048 – 00057). On April 12, 2006, Mason entered into a Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement to purchase from Plaintiff / Respondent, Idaho Livestock Company, LLC, two (2) parcels of real property consisting of approximately 2.9 acres and 28.85 acres, respectively, for the purchase price of \$2,000,000.00. (R. p. 00007; pp. 00022 – 00031). The closing date for both transactions was February 26, 2007.

After entering into the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreements on April 12, 2006, but prior to the closing date of February 26, 2007, Mason caused Fazzio's real property to be annexed into the city of Kuna. (R. p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, p. 2). Mason also caused Fazzio's real property to be joined into the Kuna sewer LID causing an encumbrance in the approximate amount of \$425,000.00. (R. p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr., filed August 4, 2008, p. 2) (On February 18, 2010, the City of Kuna issued a final assessment in the amount of \$339,543.75).

Mason failed to close on his purchase of the Fazzio real property on February 26, 2007. (R. p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, p. 2). As a result of Mason's breach of the Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreements Mason had

entered into with Fazzio, Fazzio, pursuant to the terms of those Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreements, filed for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association seeking specific performance. (R. p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, p. 2).

On September 12, 2007, Mason entered into an Agreement to Resolve Dispute Arising Out of Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement Dated April 12, 2006 So As to Avoid Arbitration with Plaintiffs/Respondents, Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. and Cindy Ann Fazzio. On that same date, Mason also entered in to Agreement to Resolve Dispute Arising Out of Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement Dated April 12, 2006 So As to Avoid Arbitration with Plaintiff/Respondent, Idaho Livestock Company, LLC. (R. p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, Exhibits A and B). The terms of the Agreements to Resolve Dispute Arising Out of Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement Dated April 12, 2006 So As to Avoid Arbitration, hereinafter "Arbitration Agreements" that Mason entered into with Fazzio provided that Mason would close on his purchase of Fazzio's land on December 21, 2007 if the city of Kuna approved Mason's preliminary plat. (R, p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, p. 3). On November 26, 2007, Mason sent Fazzio a letter stating that he would be closing on his purchase of Fazzio's real property on December 21, 2007. (R. p. 00091, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, p. 3, Exhibit "C"). Mason failed to close on December 21, 2007 and to date, has continued to fail to close on his purchase. On January 22, 2008, Fazzio filed an action to enforce the Arbitration Agreements. (R. pp. 00006 – 00068).

Both Arbitration Agreements specifically provide as follows:

vii

9. (10) <u>SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE</u>: Should either party breach or violate this Settlement Agreement, <u>the non-offending party shall have a</u> <u>remedy of specific performance</u> and may apply to the district court of the county of Ada, state of Idaho to have this Settlement Agreement enforced by a judgment for specific performance. (Emphasis added).

(R. p. 91, Affidavit of Frank J. Fazzio, Jr. filed August 4, 2008, Exhibits A and B).

# ADDITIONAL ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Whether Mason and Fazzio contractually agreed that the remedy of specific performance was a legal right.
- 2. Whether Fazzio is entitled to attorney's fees on appeal.

## ARGUMENT

# I.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

## A. <u>Standard of review on Summary Judgment</u>.

In Infanger v. City of Salmon, 137 Idaho 45, 44 P.3d 1100 (2002), the Idaho

Supreme Court held:

In an appeal from an order of summary judgment, the Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. *Eagle Water Company, Inc. v. Roundy Pole Fence Company, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 626, 7 P.3d 1103 (2000). All disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. *Id.* Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a <u>question of law remains, over which this Court exercises free review</u>. *Post v. Idaho Farmway, Inc.*, 135 Idaho 475, 20 P.3d 11 (2001). (Emphasis added).

137 Idaho at 47. In this action, there are no genuine issues of fact that would affect summary judgment. Even if Mason's representations that he does not have the financial ability to close on the purchase of Fazzio's real property are deemed true, that financial inability is irrelevant as to the district court's determination that a judgment for specific performance should have been entered in favor of Fazzio.

# B. <u>Standard of review for determining whether a judgment for specific performance</u> <u>should be granted.</u>

In P.O. Ventures, Inc. v. Loucks Family Irrevocable Trust, 144 Idaho 233, 159

P.3d 870 (2007), the Idaho Supreme Court held:

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF – Page 1**

Specific performance is an extraordinary remedy that can provide relief when legal remedies are inadequate. *Fullerton v. Griswold*, 142 Idaho 820, 823, 136 P.3d 291, 294 (2006). The inadequacy of remedies at law is presumed in an action for breach of a real estate purchase and sale agreement due to the perceived uniqueness of land. *Id.* The decision to grant specific performance is a matter within the district court's discretion. *Id.* When making its decision the court must balance the equities between the parties to determine whether specific performance is appropriate. *Id.* (Emphasis added).

144 Idaho at 237. In Johannsen v. Utterbeck, 146 Idaho 423, 196 P.3d 341 (2008), the

Idaho Supreme Court held:

A trial court does not abuse its discretion if it (1) recognizes the issue as one of discretion, (2) acts within the boundaries of its discretion and applies the applicable legal standards, and (3) reaches the decision through an exercise of reason. *In re Jane Doe, I,* 145 Idaho 650, 651, 182 P.3d 707, 708 (2008) (*citing Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co.,* 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991)).

196 P.3d at 347.

In this action, the district court clearly acted within its discretion in granting a

judgment of specific performance given the fact that Fazzio's real property is inherently

unique and Mason caused Fazzio's real property to be significantly and materially altered

by causing it to be annexed into the city of Kuna and subjected to the Kuna LID. In fact,

Mason had the benefit of two (2) very able district judges deciding that a judgment for

specific performance was appropriate.

II.

# THE DISTRICT COURT ACTED CORRECTLY WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DECIDED THAT FAZZIO WAS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT OF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE

A. <u>The district court clearly recognized the issue of whether a judgment for specific</u> performance should be entered was one of discretion. In ruling that the contracts Mason entered into with Fazzio be enforced by specific performance, the district court found as follows:

The Court finds that there is good reason to enforce the contract by specific performance, rather than the legal remedy of contract damages ordinarily available. Not only is the real property itself inherently unique, the real property was significantly and materially altered by Mason in anticipation of the sale by causing it to be annexed into the City of Kuna. Furthermore, the contract was for a cash sale, as in *Perron*. <u>The Court cannot find that the present case presents a situation where performance is so unlikely and impossible that it would render the order futile. Rather, the Court in its discretion, finds that the appropriate remedy is to order specific performance, and if performance is not completed, judgment can be entered for the purchase price. (Emphasis added).</u>

(R. p. 00083). Clearly the district court recognized the issue of whether to grant specific performance was one of discretion. As such, the district court satisfied the first prong of the three part analysis of whether it properly exercised its discretion. Johannsen v. Utterbeck, 146 Idaho 423, 196 P.3d 341 (2008).

# B. <u>The district court acted within the boundaries of its discretion and applied the applicable legal standards.</u>

The second prong of the test as to whether the district court acted within its discretion is whether the district court acted within the boundaries of its discretion and applied the appropriate legal standards. Johannsen v. Utterbeck, 146 Idaho 423, 196 P.3d 341 (2008). Clearly the district court met this standard. In <u>Perron v. Hale</u>, 108 Idaho 578, 701 P.2d 198 (1985), the Idaho Supreme Court held:

The general rules of the common law are that: (1) a party is entitled to the equitable remedy of specific performance when damages, the legal remedy, are inadequate; (2) because of the perceived uniqueness of land, <u>it</u> is presumed that damages are inadequate in an action for breach of a land <u>sale contract</u>, and the non-breaching party need not make a separate showing of the inadequacy of damages; (3) <u>the remedy is equally available</u> to both vendors and purchasers; and (4) additionally, the appropriateness of specific performance as relief in a particular case lies within the

# **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - Page 3**

discretion of the trial court. *E.g.* Cribbet, Principles of the Law of Property, p. 144 (2d ed. 1975); 71 Am.Jur.2d Specific Performance, § 112 (1973); *Scogings v. Andreason*, 91 Idaho 176, 180, 418 P.2d 273, 277 (1966). (Emphasis added).

108 Idaho at 582. In its Memorandum Decision and Order the district court cited the

following holding in Perron v. Hale, 108 Idaho 578, 701 P.2d 198 (1985):

The overwhelming weight of authority states that specific performance is as freely available to vendors as it is to purchasers. *E.g., Tombari v. Griepp*, 55 Wash.2d 771, 350 P.2d 452, 454-455 (1960) (string cite of treatises and cases); 71 Am.Jur.2d Specific Performance, § 112 (1973); Cribbet, Principles of the Law of Property, p. 144 (2d ed. 1975).

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